FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/6/2017 2:46 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 34032-5-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

EDWARD LEON NELSON, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Burkhart & Burkhart, PLLC 6 ½ N. 2nd Avenue, Suite 200 PO Box 946 Walla Walla, WA 99362 Tel: (509) 529-0630

Fax: (509) 525-0630 Attorney for Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Edward Leon Nelson requests that this court accept review of the decision designated in Part II of this petition.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals filed on May 2, 2017 and amended on June 6, 2017, affirming Leon's conviction for attempted first degree robbery with a firearm enhancement. A copy of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A, and its order granting reconsideration and amending the opinion are attached hereto as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Nelson contended below that (1) the trial court failed to instruct the jury on all the essential elements of the crime, pursuant to *State v. Richie*, 191 Wn. App. 916, 365 P.3d 770 (2015); (2) insufficient evidence supported the firearm enhancement when the State did not prove it was operable, and the jury's verdict on the enhancement conflicted with its subsequent acquittal of Nelson for unlawfully possessing a firearm in a bifurcated trial; (3) the trial court should have given his requested lesser-included offense instruction on the crime of unlawful display of a firearm;

and (4) in a Statement of Additional Grounds, that a 17-month delay in bringing him to trial violated his speedy trial rights. The Court of Appeals agreed that the jury instructions did not comport with *Richie* but found the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and rejected his remaining arguments. Nelson now seeks review of the Court of Appeals' rulings on these four issues:

- Whether the trial court's "to convict" instruction harmfully eliminated an essential element of the charge, relieving the State of its burden of proof;
- (2) Whether the firearm enhancement should be vacated when it was not shown to be a real gun, and the jury subsequently acquitted

 Nelson of unlawfully possessing a firearm;
- (3) Whether the trial court deprived Nelson of a defense when it declined to give his instruction on the lesser-included offense of unlawful display of a firearm; and
- (4) Whether the 17-month pretrial delay deprived Nelson of his constitutional right to a speedy trial.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On a summer afternoon, a man later identified as Nelson entered a Rite-Aid pharmacy and demanded medication from a pharmacy tech, gesturing to what looked like a large black gun he was holding and saying the tech better get him what he wanted or he would shoot her in ten seconds. III RP 46-48, 50, 52, 54, 84, 291, 299-300. Only the pharmacist on shift had access to the medication he asked for, which was stored in a locked box where even the store manager could not get to it. III RP 52, 78, 80, V RP 335-36, 340. Accordingly, the tech directed the man to the pharmacist, who declined to provide the medication. III RP 52. The man then demanded cash, and the pharmacist said he did not have access to it and paged the manager to the pharmacy. III RP 53. At that point, the man turned and left. III RP 53, 112. At no time did he display the gun or threaten violence against the pharmacist, who only found out later the man had shown the gun to the pharmacy tech. III RP 52, 75, 80, 97.

The State charged Nelson with attempted first degree robbery with a firearm enhancement as well as unlawfully possessing a firearm, due to his prior felony convictions. CP 31-32. Nelson's trial counsel proposed several jury instructions pursuant to *State v. Richie*, 191 Wn. App. 916, 365 P.3d 770 (2015), incorporating the element that the person threatened must have an ownership, representative, or possessory interest in the

property, and defining a representative interest in the property as having authority to act regarding the property. CP 41-45. The trial court declined the proposed instruction and further prohibited defense counsel from arguing that the pharmacy tech did not have a possessory or representative interest in the medication, even though the evidence was undisputed that she lacked any authority to access or dispense it. IV RP 411, 415-18. Instead, the court instructed the jury that a person with a representative interest included an employee or agent, and in its to convict instruction, only required the jury to find that the pharmacy tech was an employee, not that she had the requisite interest in the medication. CP 66-67.

Nelson also requested an instruction on the lesser-included offense of unlawfully displaying a firearm. CP 46-47. The court declined to give it. VI RP 427.

At trial, the charge of unlawful possession of a firearm was bifurcated. I RP 27. The jury convicted Nelson of attempted first degree robbery and found the firearm enhancement was committed, but acquitted him following the bifurcated trial for unlawfully possessing a firearm. CP 84-87, 112. In the bifurcated trial, the State's detective witness indicated that no firearm was ever recovered, the make and model of the firearm

could not be ascertained by surveillance video of the incident, and airsoft guns can be confused with real guns. VII RP 507-09.

Nelson was sentenced as a persistent offender to life without the possibility of parole. CP 146-49, 153. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals agreed that the trial court's *Richie* instructions unconstitutionally relieved the State of its burden of proof as to an essential element of the charge, but found the error harmless. *Opinion*, at 2. The Court of Appeals also held that sufficient circumstantial evidence supported the firearm enhancement based upon "[t]estimony that the gun appeared real, coupled with evidence that the defendant used the gun in committing a crime," and the enhancement verdict was not undermined by the inconsistent acquittal on the charge unlawful possession of a firearm. *Opinion*, at 13. Lastly, the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of the unlawful display instruction, concluding it was not factually supported. *Opinion*, at 14-15.

In a Statement of Additional Grounds, Nelson argued that his trial counsel was ineffective for repeatedly seeking continuances over his objection. *Statement of Additional Grounds*, attached hereto as Exhibit C. Acknowledging that there was a 17-month pretrial delay, nevertheless the

Court of Appeals held that the delay was not presumptively prejudicial and denied relief. *Opinion*, at 18-19.

Nelson now seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision as to the issues set forth in Section III.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), review will be accepted if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved, or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Both factors are satisfied in the present case as to the issues presented. As to the essential elements of the firearm enhancement, review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the question of the State's burden of proof arises from a conflict between Division III's decision in *State v. Tasker*, 193 Wn. App. 575, 373 P.3d 310 (2016), and prior decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court.

A. Evaluating the requirements of *Richie* in the case of an attempt crime, and the interplay between the *Richie* requirements and the impossibility doctrine, present constitutional questions as to the State's burden of proof and the ability to present a defense.

In State v. Richie, 191 Wn. App. 916, 929, 365 P.3d 770 (2015), the Court of Appeals held that a to-convict instruction for the crime of

robbery must include the implied element that the victim have an ownership, possessory, or representative interest in the property taken. *Richie* relied significantly on this court's decision in *State v. Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d 705, 714-15, 107 P.3d 728 (2005), acknowledging the necessity of a relationship between the victim and the property, and defining the unit of prosecution for a robbery charge as each separate forcible taking of property from or in the presence of a person having the necessary relationship to the property. In the earliest formulation of this requirement, the court stated as an example:

For instance, if A. takes the property of B. from the immediate presence of C. by force or putting in fear, A. is not guilty of the crime of robbery unless B. had control and dominion over C.'s property at the time of the taking.

State v. Hall, 54 Wash. 142, 144, 102 P. 888 (1909).

In the context of an attempt, the importance of the relationship between the victim and the property sought to be taken is less clear-cut because of the fact that the crime was not completed, and impossibility is not a legal or factual defense to an attempt crime. See, e.g., State v. Johnson, 173 Wn.2d 895, 270 P.3d 591 (2012) (holding that a defendant may be convicted of an attempted child sex crime when the victim is an adult, as long as the defendant believed the victim was underage and intended to commit the crime against a minor); RCW 9A.28.020(2)

(statutorily rejecting impossibility defenses for attempt crimes).

Reconciling the *Hall* and *Johnson* formulations, a person who actually takes property from one who is believed to but does not actually possess the requisite relationship with the property, is not guilty of robbery, but may be guilty of attempted robbery. The Court of Appeals ruling in this case expands this formulation by holding that a person who did not take property, nor affect a victim with the requisite relationship, is just as culpable as the defendant who actually takes the property, but from the wrong person. This outcome is highly counter-intuitive.

Reconciling the requirements of *Richie* with the State's lowered burden to prove an attempt is a question of constitutional magnitude concerning the essential elements of attempted robbery. The State has the constitutional burden to prove all of the elements of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. *Richie*, 191 Wn. App. at 927. Here, while acknowledging that the instructions clearly failed to comply with *Richie*, the Court of Appeals effectively concluded that the jury must necessarily conclude that Nelson's actions constituted a substantial step toward the completed robbery, even though the pharmacy tech had an insufficient relationship to the property and the person who did have access, the pharmacist, was not threatened and did not even know about the threats to the pharmacy tech at the time. *Opinion*, at 11. Evaluating this conclusion

requires examination of the essential elements of attempted robbery in light of *Richie* and *Johnson*. Review is therefore appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

B. The extent to which the State can prove an essential element of the charge through inference and circumstance raises a constitutional question as to the State's burden of proof and appears to reflect a conflict between divisions of the Court of Appeals.

In State v. Pam, 98 Wn.2d 748, 751, 659 P.2d 454 (1983), overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown, 113 Wn.2d 520, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989), witnesses identified Pam as a robber carrying a shotgun that fell apart as he fled the scene. The jury was not instructed that it had to find the elements of the deadly weapon and firearm enhancements beyond a reasonable doubt. Observing that a "gun-like object incapable of being fired is not a 'firearm'," the court reversed the special verdicts because "a rational jury could have a reasonable doubt as to the operability of the weapon." Id. at 754-55.

Pam recognized that the statutory definition of a "firearm" required some evidence to establish that it was actually capable of firing a projectile by use of an explosive. Notably, Pam itself appeared to involve a real shotgun, in that police recovered the wooden forestock. 98 Wn.2d at 751. At issue, then, was not whether the item was originally

manufactured to be able to fire an explosive projectile, but whether it was capable of doing so at the time the crime was committed. *See also State v. Faust*, 93 Wn. App. 373, 967 P.2d 1284 (1998); *State v. Padilla*, 95 Wn. App. 531, 978 P.2d 1113 (1999) (both Divisions One and Two holding that the firearm in question must be operable at the time of the commission of the crime).

This Court has since affirmed that reading of *Pam*, stating, "We have held that a jury must be presented with sufficient evidence to find a firearm operable under this definition in order to uphold the enhancement." *State v. Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d 428, 437, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008). And following *Recuenco*, Division Two of the Court of Appeals agreed, holding that evidence of operability is necessary to uphold a firearm enhancement even when there is no question that the items in question are real, i.e. not toy, guns. *State v. Pierce*, 155 Wn. App. 701, 23 P.3d 237 (2010).

Division Three created a conflict with Division II's ruling in Pierce and the Supreme Court's rulings in Pam and Recuenco when it decided State v. Tasker, 193 Wn. App. 575, 373 P.3d 310 (2016). In Tasker, the Court of Appeals held that the use of something appearing firearm-like to a witness is itself circumstantial evidence that the item is an operable firearm. *Id.* at 592. Accordingly, the *Tasker* court accepted as sufficient evidence of an operable firearm testimony that the item was used in the course of a robbery and kidnapping, the victim saw the item at close range and was positive it was a gun, the victim was old enough to have seen guns, and the victim heard a clicking noise behind her head that was consistent with the use of a real gun. *Id.* at 595. *Tasker* provided the primary justification for the Court of Appeals' ruling in this case that the State presented sufficient evidence to support the firearm enhancement, notwithstanding the conflicting verdict on the unlawful possession charge. *Opinion*, at 13.

The *Tasker* court's reasoning is problematic in several respects. It serves to reduce the State's burden of proof from the standard established by the statutory definition of a "firearm" and acknowledged in *Pam* and *Recuenco* as a real, operable gun, to proving only that something that looks like a gun was used in the manner that one might use a real gun. This reduction in the State's burden of proof is in direct conflict with the *Pam* Court's express recognition that "a gun-like object incapable of being fired is not a 'firearm'." 98 Wn.2d at 754.

The *Tasker* standard is also troublingly circular, conflating evidence that is sufficient to show probable cause to charge the firearm

enhancement with evidence sufficient to prove the enhancement beyond a reasonable doubt. Certainly a witness's observation and belief that a firearm was used to perpetrate a crime warrants charging the enhancement, but under *Tasker*, the mere use of something gun-like is independent evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the gun-like thing is a gun. This bootstrapping of facts sufficient to charge into facts sufficient to convict cannot be reconciled with *Pam*'s distinction between items used as guns, and items that actually are guns. Moreover, the standard effectively presumes guilt from the fact of the charge – an enhancement will not be charged without some evidence that a gun-like object is used to further criminal activity, yet under *Tasker*, this evidence is also sufficient to convict.

Lastly, the *Tasker* standard introduces unworkably subjective considerations into the evidentiary standard of proof by creating a heavily fact-dependent evaluation of the witness's age, experience with firearms, and surrounding circumstances. Yet *Tasker* provides no mechanism for distinguishing between cases when circumstantial accounts are sufficient evidence and when they are not. Read to its extreme, *Tasker* could be understood to hold that evidence is sufficient to find an operable firearm anytime a witness claims to see a gun. This would further entrench the divide with Division Two's ruling in *Pierce*, which recognized that

although circumstantial evidence could tend to establish operability, acceptable circumstantial evidence would include bullets found, gunshots heard, or muzzle flashes observed – in other words, evidence that tends to corroborate a witness's observations, not the observations themselves.

155 Wn. App. at 714 n. 11.

In relying exclusively on its *Tasker* decision, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case directly conflicts with the Supreme Court's rulings in *Pam* and *Recuenco*, as well as the decision of Division Two of the Court of Appeals in *Pierce*. Acceptance of review should therefore be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) to resolve the conflict. Moreover, *Tasker* reduces the State's burden of proof as to an essential element and therefore raises a question of constitutional magnitude as to what the essential elements actually are, supporting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Because *Tasker* and the present case reflect a substantial departure from the jurisprudence deriving from *Pam* and *Recuenco*, and because the different divisions of the Court of Appeals are governed by sharply different interpretations of what the State is required to prove, this Court should take the opportunity to reevaluate its precedents and announce whether they remain viable and controlling, or expressly overrule them.

C. Whether a 17-month pretrial delay is presumptively prejudicial presents a question of constitutional significance.

The Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee the defendant the right to a speedy public trial. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 276, 281-82, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). Violation of a defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial requires dismissal of the charges with prejudice. *Id.* at 282 (citing *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 522, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972)).

The first inquiry is whether the length of the delay is presumptively prejudicial. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 530. This inquiry is necessarily dependent on the circumstances of each case. *Id.* at 530-31. Once the delay is determined to be presumptively prejudicial, the court then considers a number of factors to determine if a constitutional violation has occurred. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 283.

"The decision to grant or deny a motion for continuance rests within the sound discretion of the trial court," which discretion is abused when the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *State v. Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. 209, 216, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009) (quoting *State v. Downing*, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004)). A continuance may be granted

upon a finding that additional time is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be substantially prejudiced. *State v. Williams*, 104 Wn. App. 516, 521-22, 17 P.3d 648 (2001). In itself, granting a continuance over a defendant's objection to allow defense counsel more time to prepare for trial is not an abuse of discretion.

Williams, 104 Wn. App. at 523 (citing *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 15, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)). But courts have acknowledged that continuance requests must be considered in light of counsel's duty to abide by the client's decision as to the objectives of representation. *Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. at 217-18. In *Saunders*, where three continuances were granted over the defendant's objections without an adequate basis or reason articulated, it was an abuse of discretion that required dismissal of the charges under the speedy trial rule. *Id.* at 220-21.

Here, the Court of Appeals concluded that the 17-month pretrial delay was not presumptively prejudicial because of the seriousness of the charge and the potential for a persistent offender sentence. *Opinion*, at 18-19. But the Court did not consider any of the factors unique to the case, such as the reasons for the multiple continuance requests, Nelson's disagreement with the requests, and Nelson's right to determine the outcomes of the representation. The Court also did not consider the consensus across multiple jurisdictions that delays of between eight and

twelve months can be presumed to be prejudicial. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 290. Because the delay in this case was more than twice the minimum identified as presumptively prejudicial in *Iniguez*, the Court of Appeals did not apply the correct standard in concluding the 17-month delay here was not presumptively prejudicial.

Appropriately applying the *Barker* factors in cases where pretrial delay is occasioned by defense counsel's requests over the defendant's objection requires reconciliation of the defendant's constitutional rights to a speedy trial and effective assistance of counsel. Such reconciliation amounts to a question of constitutional significance under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

VI. CONCLUSION

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