FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/23/2017 2:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94712-1

# THE SUPREME COURT OF OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

EDWARD LEON NELSON, Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

TA	BL	E OF AUTHORITIES ii-i	ii	
A.	IN	TRODUCTION	1	
	ISS	SUES PRESENTED BY PETITION	1

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

### **ARGUMENT**

A petition before this court arising from an opinion issued by the Court of Appeals is governed by RAP 13.4(b). This rule sets forth the manner and mechanism for review of a decision by the Court of Appeals terminating review.

Petitioner claims the Court of Appeals opinion merits review under sections (b) (1), (2) and (3). The opinion in Nelson's case does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. The Court of Appeals opinion does not 1) Conflict with any decision by this court; 2) The opinion does not conflict with any opinion of this court or the Court of Appeals and 4) The issues raise in this petition for review do not involve any issues of substantial public interest that this court should address.

It must be noted that Nelson lists four issues that he wishes this court to address. However, in his petition he does not address all of these arguments. <u>State v. Dennison</u>, 115 Wn.2d 609, 629, 801 P.2d 193 (1990)

"He neither briefs the issue nor cites to authority. The issue will not be reviewed. See Smith v. King, 106 Wn.2d 443, 722 P.2d 796 (1986)."

As expressed by the Eighth Circuit, "naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." <u>United States v. Phillips</u>, 433 F.2d 1364, 1366 (8th Cir.1970).

### Answer to Allegation A – Defective "to convict" jury instructions.

The Court of Appeals opined that the trial court had failed to include the essential nonstatutory element "...the victim has an ownership, representative, or possessory interest in the property taken" in the toconvict robbery instruction. The Court of Appeals, all three jurists on the panel, however agreed with the State that this omission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. All three jurists "...agree that the trial court's instructions did not accurately recount the standard for whether a robbery victim has representative capacity over a piece of property." However, Judge Pennell in her concurrence wrote, "I write separately because I disagree that this flaw in the instructions went to an essential element of the crime charged." (Slip concurrence pg. 1)

Nelson's argues that the analysis of the Court of Appeals is "highly counter-intuitive." (Petition at 8) The reasoning of the court is commonsense and based on long standing case law. The court's analysis does

address the original allegation head on however, the final analysis was that at the end of the case this error was literally harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because of the facts before the trial court. The court stated:

The "to convict" instructions at issue was determined to be flawed by the Court of Appeals. Two jurists found the error to be of an "essential nonstatutory element" one found it not to be "essential." All three jurist found that error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The distinguishing factor in Nelson's case is that the State charged out and proved this crime as an *attempt* not the completed crime as was the case in State v. Richie, 191 Wn. App. 916, 365 P.3d 770 (2015). The court cited long standing law to support this conclusion;

""[A]n erroneous jury instruction that omits an element of the charged offense or misstates the law is subject to harmless error analysis "State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 844, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). "[A]n instruction that omits an element of the offense does not necessarily render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 3 5 (1999). "The Neder test for determining the harmlessness of a constitutional error is 'whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 845 (internal quotation marks omitted). (Slip at 9)

Nothing within the totality of the original opinion which would allow this court to accept review pursuant to RPA 13.4(b). Not a single word of this opinion conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals or is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

While no doubt Nelson believes that he case meets all three criteria that simply is not true. The case Nelson primarily relies on, <u>Richie</u>, is distinguishable. <u>Richie</u> was charged and proven as a completed crime.

Nelson's case was plead and proven as an <u>attempt</u> this critical to the State's original argument and the Court of Appeals ruling.

The Court of Appeals, once again citing well settled law, <u>State v.</u>

<u>Luther</u>, 157 Wn.2d 63, 78, 134 P.3d 205 (2006) (citing <u>State v. Townsend</u>,

147 Wn.2d 666, 679, 57 P.3d 255 (2002)) opined;

The State also argues Mr. Nelson was charged and convicted of attempted first degree robbery. The trial court defined the State's burden for proving an anticipatory offense: "A person commits the crime of Attempted First Degree Robbery when, with intent to commit that crime, he does any act that is a substantial step toward the commission of that crime." CP at 63. A substantial step is an act that is "strongly corroborative" of the actor's criminal purpose. (Slip at 10-11)

. . .

Unlike *State v. Richie*, 191 Wn. App. 916, 365 P.3d 770 (2015), this case does not involve a charge of first degree robbery. Instead, Mr. Nelson was charged with attempted first degree robbery. Attempted first degree robbery only has two elements: (1) the defendant intended to commit the crime of robbery, and (2) in furtherance of that intent, the defendant took a substantial step toward the commission of the crime of robbery. RCW 9A.28.020(1); *State v. Kier*, 164 Wn.2d 798, 807, 194 P.3d 212 (2008). Neither of these elements requires

the State to prove the victim of the attempted robbery had ownership or representative capacity over the property the defendant intended to steal. (Concurrence at 2)

Nelson has presented this court with nothing which meets the edicts of RAP 13.4(b) which would support this court granting his petition.

The law governing criminal charges which are plead and proven as an attempt is not in flux. The law cited by the Court of Appeals regarding both its determination that there was error regarding the jury instruction and the harmlessness of that error are not significant questions of law or of substantial public interest nor are these prior rulings in conflict with any case of this court or any other court of review.

### **Answer to Allegation B - Firearm allegation**

When the State filed the Respondent's brief Tasker was before this court by way of a Petition for Review. This court determined prior to the Court of Appeals issuance of the opinion in this case denied review of Tasker. State v. Tasker, 193 Wn. App. 575,594,373 P.3d 310, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1013, 380 P.3d 496 (2016). See also, Appendix A.

Nelson argued in the Court of Appeals that that court should overturn its ruling in Tasker, the court politely declined. Nelson now comes before this court stating that Division III's ruling in <u>Tasker</u> set up a conflict with State v. Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428, 437, 180 P.3d 1276

(2008), <u>In State v. Pam</u>, 98 Wn.2d 748, 751, 659 P.2d 454 (1983), overruled on other grounds by <u>State v. Brown</u>, 113 Wn.2d 520, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989) and <u>State v. Pierce</u>, 155 Wn. App. 701, 23 P.3d 237(2010).

That is not true. This court had Tasker before it and determined that review was not necessary. Clearly this court would not allow a conflict in the law to exist, that is one of the primary tasks of this court.

The Court of Appeals addresses the requirement of proof using long standing case law, this issue while clearly of great moment to Nelson is neither one of constitutional magnitude or great public interest.

This court should not grant review; Nelson has presented this court with nothing which meets the edicts of RAP 13.4(b).

### <u>Answer to Allegation C – Presumptive prejudice due to a 17 month pretrial dely.</u>

A brief recitation facts pertaining to this case is needed to address this allegation

Nelson was charged with <u>attempted</u> first degree robbery with a firearm enhancement, attempting to elude a police vehicle with an endangerment enhancement, and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 31-32. The information set forth the charge in the alternative alleging that Nelson committed the attempted robbery against Meinhold and/or Newcomer. CP 31. The State agreed to bifurcate the unlawful

possession of a firearm charge to because of the need to present Nelson's prior criminal history to prove that conviction. I RP 27. The State alleged after the first amended information and subsequently proved that Nelson had prior criminal history that required the court to sentence him as a persistent offender. RP 536-41, CP 14-15, 26-27, 31-32. Nelson was convicted of attempted first degree robbery and attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, and returned affirmative special verdicts on the enhancements. CP 84-87, VI RP 488-89. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the bifurcated count. CP 1 12, VII RP 532. Because of Nelson's criminal history he was found to be a persistent offender and sentenced him to life without the possibility of parole. CP 146-49, 153.

There is no verbatim report of proceedings for the continuances that appear in the record. The first continuance was requested by defense counsel this was contested by the State. That order states "Mr. Dalan is involved in a murder trial. CP 7.

The second was once again requested by defense counsel, it too was contested by the State. That order reads "Additional time necessary to prepare for trial...3<sup>rd</sup> strike case." CP 8.

The third continuance was requested by defense counsel and contested by the State, that order reads "case is related to 14-1-01209-3, two counts of Robbery 1st degree, which requires additional time to

prepare for trial. CP 9.

The fourth continuance was requested by defense counsel and contested by the State. That order reads "additional time necessary to prepare." CP 11.

The next continuance was agreed to by the parties CP 12. The next continuance was requested by the State and contested by the defendant.

That order reads "severance of cases has put trial date past speedy trial."

CP 20.

The next continuance was agreed. CP 21. The last and final continuance was requested by the State and contested by the defendant.

That order reads "Essential State witnesses are unavailable during the time frame of Aug 10 and Sept per motion to continue. CP 23

The last continuance was requested by the State and contested by the defendant. That order reads "Off. J. Gonzalez an essential State witness is unavailable from 11-27-15 until 12-28-15. DPA unavailable from 12-28-15 to 1-4-16 due to scheduled vacations for the officer and DPA." CP 30.

The State cannot find the original trial date in the record. The first date set after the first continuance was November 17, 2014. The trail began on January 4, 2016.

The period of time from the first recorded trial date to the last

defense requested or agreed order of continuance is from November 17, 2014 to August 10, 2015. The vast majority of the time which elapsed from charging to trial was due to actions of the defendant or by agreement of the defendant. Only five months elapsed between the time of the last agreed trial date and the time trial occurred due to issues related to the State.

The only "record" that Nelson personally did not agree to these actions is the one line from his SAG that states that he was "coersd" by his counsel to waive his 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment rights.

The State must also note that this allegation was before the Court of Appeals by way of Nelson's Statement of Additional grounds. The sum total of information before that court and now this court regarding this alleged violation was raised as an ineffective assistance claim wherein Nelson states "[i]neffective counsel. State appointed attorney's performance was deficient and didn't function as the counsel guaranteed by the VI Amendment. In fact, my counsel continually coersd (sic) me to waive my 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment Right, which became a conflict of interest."

The vast majority of the time between charging and trial was due to Nelson's own actions. His one sentence statement that he was coerced to take these actions is not supported by the record which was before the court of appeals and now this court. The invited error doctrine precludes a

party from setting up an error at the trial court and then complaining of it on appeal. State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870-71, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). "Mr. Chenoweth requested the continuance he now attacks. Under the doctrine of invited error, Mr. Chenoweth cannot set up an error at the trial court and then complain of it on appeal. In re Pers. Restraint of Thompson, 141 Wash.2d 712, 713, 10 P.3d 380 (2000)" State v. Chenoweth, 63 P.3d 834, 115 Wn.App. 726 (2003).

State v. Rafay, 168 Wn.App. 734, 285 P.3d 83, (2012);

In assessing the reasons for the delay, a court considers, among other things, " 'whether the government or the criminal defendant is more to blame for th[e] delay.' "

Vermont v. Brillon, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 129 S.Ct. 1283, 1290, 173

L.Ed.2d 231 (2009) (alteration in original) (quoting

Doggett, 505 U.S. at 651, 112 S.Ct. 2686). "A defendant's claim that the government violated [his] right to a speedy trial is seriously undermined when the defendant, and not the government, is the cause of the delay." United States v.

Blanco, 861 F.2d 773, 778 (2d Cir.1988); see also Brillon, 129 S.Ct. at 1290 (defendant's speedy trial rights not violated where delays were properly attributable to defense counsel).

This court specifically ruled that there is no fixed period of time that can be used to as a determinative of a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial. Because Nelson argued that his constitutional right to a speedy trial, which is by nature less clearly delineated than the rule-based right. This court in <u>State v. Iniguez</u>, 167 Wn.2d 273, 290, 217 P.3d 768 (2009), as cited by the Court of Appeals in

its decision, held that the rights to a speedy trial secured by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and by article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution are coextensive.

In analyzing constitutional speedy trial claims, our courts have followed the multi-factor analysis of <u>Barker v. Wingo</u>, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972), while recognizing that its factors are not exclusive. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d at 283.

The first step in the analysis is the determination of whether the delay was presumptively prejudicial. <u>Iniguez</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 283. If it was, then the remaining factors are examined. <u>Id</u>. Those factors include the length and reason for the delay, whether the defendant has asserted his right, and the ways in which the delay caused prejudice to the defendant. <u>Id</u>. <u>Iniguez</u> rejected use of a fixed period of time beyond which delay is presumptively prejudicial, noting <u>Barker's</u> holding that the inquiry necessarily depends on the circumstances of the case. <u>Id</u>. at 292.

<u>Iniguez</u>, however, surveyed other decisions viewing delay ranging from eight months to one year as presumptively prejudicial and concluded that under the circumstances of the case, the delay of over eight months was presumptively prejudicial. Id. 291-92.

Whether a delay is presumptively prejudicial is a fact-specific inquiry dependent on the circumstances of each case. <u>Iniguez</u>, 167 Wn.2d

at 291. The defendant bears the burden of showing that the length of the delay crossed a line from ordinary to presumptively prejudicial. <u>Iniguez</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 283.

The Court of Appeals, determined that Nelson had not met the first factor, ruling "Here, Mr. Nelson does not surpass the initial showing that the delay was presumptively prejudicial. Although there was a delay of approximately 17 months between arrest and trial, Mr. Nelson was charged with a very serious offense, as well as attempting to elude a police vehicle after an extensive pursuit. He also faced life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, as this was his third serious violent felony.

The decision to grant or deny a trial continuance rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 135, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009). A court of review will not disturb a trial court's decision on that issue unless there is a clear showing the trial court's decision was manifestly unreasonable, or that it based its decision on untenable grounds or reasons. Id.

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